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EDITORIAL

Oceasionally during raeelings of the couneil ot The Devon History Sociely, ox well
as in the canmittees of local history groups=, opiuions are voiced about the impor.
tance of recording aspeets of our modern e which have now passed into the
realms of history, Views ave particndarly expressed coneerning matters relating to
the two World Wars, and their effects in Devon.

In just over three yoars” time we shall reach the millenniwm. For loday’s writers
the term 'the st contury’ fused frequently by many of us as i allernative to ‘Lhe
nineteenti contury’ ar ‘Lhe 1HMS — but now more warily il we hope that owr publi-
eations will survive beyond Lhe year 2000 suggests in the mind a time of some-
wilat hazy past. Very soen, however, swhen we say ‘the lust century” we shall be
valerring to the Lwentielth century, the 19008, the century in which we now bHve.
And, perhaps more staggering to contemplate, both World Wars took place in the
century’s ‘frst half™

Already The Devon Historien has published some valuable studies of {ife and
cevents in the earlfier years of what is still ‘the present century’. Issue 32, for oxam-
ple, included a loeus on New Zealanders in south Devon in World War [ and anoth-
er on the former pursuil of game in a group of parishes — covering a part of country
life which al one time most people knew about bub which is inereasingly o daad
subject. In tlis lulest edition aspects of village life in another pavt of Lhe coanty
are brought into view by AL L Jackson, using writings of the late Hloenvy
Willinmson, while Dr Neville Oawald has provided the Iatest of hix cantributions,
this time 2 collection of matevial on the men ol his parish — Thurlestone - who died
in Warld War [T |

Ot course. il is acknowledged that only o proportion of the historieal matters fea-
tured in this journal could justifiably be devoled to such veeent times. The range of
subjects pertaining to the county’s earlier centuries of history is boundless and
must have prominence. But, surely. we showdd recognize the advantages thal siill
exist for first-hand information to be gathered and vecorded while still available.
The changes during the 1900= have been so unprecedented and phenomenal that
many of today’s responsible and learned adults in their twenties and thirties have
no idea of, or carmot eredit, maoy ol the Lhings that happened in their elders’
younger days.

The way in which Nevitle Qswald has collected and presented his vecent
Thurlestone investigation is to be commended. Doubtlexs similar exercises have
been performed in several other parishes, but where they huve nat there must be a
good case for something similar. This particular arvticle thereture offers a useful
madel, Tt is unlikely that we could provide room for adl such [nture examples in
The Devan Historfon -~ space 1s limited and woe must give consideration Lo variety —
but there must undoubledly be value in parishes puthering respective data, and in
cach ¢aze either producing a small private publication or at least depositing eopics
of a well-typed accounl in securn places. Future Devon hislorians would thank
them for leaving such accounts of the direct effects of war, and of ways of lifi: that
are still remembered but have already cossed Lo be common,
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THE EXPORT TRADE
IN NORTH DEVON EARTHENWARE, 1780-1840

Michael Nix

Archaeological evidence suggests that the north Devon pottery industry originated in
late medieval times, although the coastwise distribution of its wares was not fully
evolved until after 1660, Cirant states that markets in carthenware were opened up by
masters of small vessels who advantageously linked Lhis with other trades such us the:
carriage of Welsh coal. A bidivectional overseas trade was alseo dovelopisd, bub vefied
en merchants who could invest in vatuable retirn cargoes such as tobaces. Following
the collapse of the transatlantic markets during the eighteenth eentiry, and suffecing
from the effects of increased competition from Staffordshire potters, north Devan's
trade in earthenware contracted until only the South West, south Wales aned its own
hinterland remamed.!

The brown earthenware pottery indusley was of considerable importance Lo the
economy of north Devon, particulavly to Bideford und Barnstaple. In both towas pro-
duction was located on the northern side, to avoid sparks being carried into vestdential
avea by the prevailing winds.” There were alsa village potteries, with access Lo the
river and sea, recorded at Instow in 1790 and Fremington in 8061 [n the manufac
turing proeess Fremington clay was used throughoul, although white bali-clay, gravels
and galena were employed. Water and pipe-clay wore mixed to form a creamy stip into
which the pollery was dipped, then designs were seratched through. The end prodict
was known as seralitto ware. Coarse-wares — large pans, piekling steans for pitchards,
silting vessels. ovens, ete — were produced by mixing clay with gravel taken from the
River Tovridge at Landeross. It was believed that the end produet was more heat vosis-
tant and stronger for this mixture. Lead ore of a type known as palena wax the main
grredieont of the glaze.? .

AL the twrn of the nineteenth century the trade in carthenware was flourishing, In
1792 Juhn Watkins of Bideford veported that the demand for earthenwirn n various
parts of the kingdawm, is constantly great’. He continued, with some partiality, that

the earthenware rade here is generally supposed to be superior o any other of
the kind, and this ix accounted for, from the peculiar exeellence of the gravel
which this river affords, in binding the clay. That this is the truc reason, seems
clear, from the fact, that though the potlevies at Barnstaple make tse of the same
sort of day, yet theiv earthenware is aot held in such esteem at Bristol, ete., as
that of Bideford,”

Maton observed five years later that clay was obtained from Fremington al the
easy’ price of hall-a-crown a tan Taking into consideration labourers’ earnings of no
more than six shillings o week, the speed of manufacluring individual articles and
other expenses which were "tritling”, theve were, according to Watkins, great profits to
be made, This was ‘evidenced by several persons having visen within a few years, fiom
the greatest obscurity and poverty, to wealth and consequence of no small extent’

North Devon ware was produced in a number of sroall ‘pot-works” which Marshall
eonsidered added to the ‘remarkably [orbidding' look of the town of Bideford. ‘In the
vacant spaces between Lhe streets’, he complained:

imimense piles of furze faggols rise, in the shape of houses, and make the houses
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themselves appear more like havels than they really are. The dangerous pilis of

fuels are tor the use of the pottery, for which I believe this town s celebrated,

chiefly, ur wholly, the coarser kind of carthenware.
These piles wore a potential fire risl in the town. In L1747, five potters were fined five
shillings each for stacking their fuel dangerousiy and were compelled ta promise ta
keep thetr ricks at a safe distance from Lhe earthenware kilns, chimneys and houses.”

One pottery, in the appropriately named Potter's Strect, now North Streel, in
Bideford, was advertised [or sale in {808 and included [arge areas of ground nearby
for storage of faggots and other fuels. It was probably estahblished in the 1650s and
possessed two dwelling houses, a worlshop, drying houses with chambers over and
other suthouses. The location close to the town, it was noled, was a convenient situa-
tion for passing trade with the town's people and for the export trade.

Such polteries would have worked all the year raund bul were subject to seasonal
fluctuations. Shorter hours of daylight during the winter months and the difficulties of

Table 1. The number of manthly cargoes and consignments of carthenware exporied
from Bidetford during 1806 (North Devoen Record Office, R237T3AV/E)

\ MONTH Tl m|lalmlalslals|ols]o
641 ri2 I G371 Al | 24

Q
=3

‘ CARGO LT I T T I R R TR

+ Number of cargoes/eonsignments

Cargo = single commadity carried in vessel

Consignment = two or move different types ol commaodity carried as a single cargo
by a vessel

drying the wares slowed down production work.” Table 1 confivms Grant's assertion
that most earthenware was shipped during the suramer months, partially answering
the need to aveid damaye in wintery. slor-tossed seas. It can also be observed lrom
the table that after the tull between November and Februeary, the monll in which
frosts wore most likely to delay the deying process, the pace of trade began to increase.
The winter's praduction could al last be distributed.

In the nineteeonth century the pol-works located on the Taw and Torridge made jugs,
balting-dishos, fl()\ver~puts: bhutber-pots, lamps, cups and so forth for the neighbour-
hand. Some potteries, such as Fremington, manufactured pilchard steans or pots tor
the Cornizh fishing industry and ovens for Wales, Althougl works in the potteries
revalved argund the demands of dairying and of kitchen and table, there was also
some ornamental and decorative work which was generally for local consumption,
Bidetord specialised in harvest pitchers, Barnstaple in puzzle-jugs.”

One of the most striking features of Table 2 is the considerable expansion of trade
between the early 1790s and the mid 18008, Two impartant aspects have, however, to
be borne in mind. The [irst is that the data for the 1791-93 period may be incomplete
as Lhey are drawn from departure reports in the Trewmnens Eecier Fiving Post. These
are not consistent in the early 1790s except between June 1790 and July 1793 and
evan then there is some evidence overall for internal inconsistoncy. The second aspect
is that some earthenware cousignmoents shipped to Bristol are not vevorded, since they
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are lost in the all embracing tevn sundry goods’. Be that as it may, in 1808 Vancouver
reruarked that Lhe earthenware trade had nercased considerably over the previous
fow yoars.'

Table 2. The number of cargnes and consiynments of earthenware and tiles exported
!,1'0111 Bu‘ltjfurd and B..'.n‘nstalplc it three sample periods between 1781 and 1812
(Treweman’s Excior flving Post and North Devon Rocord Office, R23790/28)

Port Barnstaple Bidefurd

Yoin: 179134 1791-3 T1805-7 1810-12
Sarthenware 49N 8" 54/4 12924 | LLLae

Farthenware/tites 3 - - .

Tiles Wl - - -1

Total HTARY] | Hadfd 129/24 1114138

+ sample period begins July and ence.June

* Number of cargoesfeonsignments

Cargo = single commuodity carried in vessol

Consignment = two or more dillerent types of commodity carried as a single eargo
by a vessel

Althaugh the overall direction of trade haed not changed significantly between 1791-
1790 aned 1880-181 2, the markets in both Wales mind the South West had been boosted.
Swatsew, Peanbiroke and Carmarthen were significant tnporters, a situation similar to
that of the mid-seventeenth century. The number of cargoes imported into Swansea
inereased between the latier two sample periods, alimost certainly an indieution of an
expanding market during a period of industrial growth.* The coal-port of Newport
was also expanding and atiracting quantities of north Devon sarthenware, Phe num-
boer of cargoes imported inte Pembroke, however, was declining, possibly a conse-
quence of the redivecting of Bideford’s culm trade eastwards along the Bristol
Channel. Further markeils were [ound on the coast of west Wales, particubarly
Cardigan and Abervstwyth,

In Coruwall, north Deven earthenware was valued by fisheyman and domestic con-
sumer alike. The port of Padstaw had been a large importer of cavthenware in the sec-
ond hall ol the seventeenth century,” and continued to retain a place in the trades of
both Bideford and Barnstaple during the poriod under review. In numbers of cargoss,
Fowey was also of some importance. During the FPrench Revolutionary and Napoleonie
Wars, restrictions were iImposed which limited the shipment of pilchards to the
Continent, In consequencs, immense yuantitivs of fish taken were pressed for theiv oil.
Thix train-pil was burned in earthenware bimps. The oil, purchased in Cornish towns,
wis braught to market by Gabwives in big jars, aned celailed Lo the country people win
included it ameongst their weekly puychases’™ Some of these lamps snd pots were
undoubtedly supplied by Lhe polleries of Bidetord and Barnstaple.
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Bideford exported earthenware to the major pupulation ceatres of Bristol and
Piyimaouth. These two places absorbed aboul 13 per cent of the total cargoes and con-
stgnments in the period 1805-7. Oceasional cargoes were also sent to one or two ol the
English Bristol Channel ports. Although the ports of the north Semersel coast had
provided regular, if small, markets for earthenware in Lthe seventeenth century, this
was no longer the vase ot the end of the eighteenth. Sinee there were fow trading hnks
in other commoditivs with this region, Lhere was little opportunity for expansion.
There must also have bean strong competilion from the potteries of Bristol and the
Midlands.

The most significant development. of trade in the eighteenth century, besides the col-
lapse of the American market, was Lhe diminution of the [vish trude. Grant calculated
that in 1699 the number of parcels of earthenware sent to Ireland from north Devon
was aboul hall the total sent frem London and the outports.’ During the period 1791-
1793 only one-fifth of all carthenware cargoes and consignments which depavted
Barnstaple were for Irish destinations. Most accompanied barrels of beer. This decline
was apportioned by Grant to the competition from Staffordshire potters who, by expe-
ditious use of canals, were abln to transpt thetr wares Lo Liverpool, for eventual dis-
tribnation to Ireland.

Although a single consignment of tiles was despatched from Bideford to Cork at the
cad of March 1811 it had, in lact, arvived four days earlier from Barnstaple in a vessel
emploved in the vak bark trade. Charbonnier stated in 1908 Lhat a large number of
north Devon churches still contained embiossed tiles made in wooden maulds of
Fremington clay and Bidetord gravel {gravel- tempered elay) and theo glazed with
galena. Some tles identical to those made in the North Walk Pottery, Barnstaple, in
the latter hall of the seventeenth century, were (o be sven in Bristol Cathedral.t
Barnstuple continued sxporting tiles into the early part of the nineteenth century,
albeit on a limited scale. One consignment was sent to Carmarthen in the summer of
17499 others to Walerford and Wicklow.

So who were the potlers of novth Deven and how were they, ag manufacturers,
directly involved in the earthenware carrying trade? In 1792 the niversal British
Directory rvecorded five pottors at work in Bideford — Henry Cadd, John Jewell, Philip
Talin, dohn Tuckett andd Mary Carder — and one in Barnstaple .« Margaret Besley —
exclusive of the earthenware-man George Hunger The Bideford ship register also
revealed a further potter. George Spray, working in Bideford in 1786 and another,
Witliam Lovering {of Litchdan Street), at Barnstaple in 1797, Later. between 1503 and
1813, the same sonree records two other Bideford potters, Thomas Anthony and
William Carder. The Barnstuple customs sut-port letter book atso refers to George and
Willinm Fighlev of [nstow in 1787,

OF all thess potters, it is cerlain that all except Flenry Cadd had sharves in vessels
owned tn eithor Bideford or Barnstaple (see Fable 31, In the two decades aftar 1786
the names of both Carders, Anthony, Jewel. Spray, Tallin and Tuckett appear in the
Ridafarel ship register on twenty-eight separate oceasions, In 1823, a trade divectory
listed four patteries in Potter’s Streel and a further three in East-the-Water and one in
the Strand.® In Barnsiaple only one earthenware munufacturer, James Randell of
Castle Stroet, was recorded. Fiteen years bater Robson’s Directory listed two potters
in Bideford - Edward Petheriek and Jobn Tucker — bath of Bast-the-Water - and two
in Barnstaple - Elias Rendell of Lichdon Strect and Johu Rendell of North Walk. With
the exception of Lwe vessels, the Alfred and the Hebe, shown in the table below, the
tonnage of most eraft vwned by the potters was comparatively small. The mean regis-
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Table 3. Potters with shaves in Bideford and Barnstaple vessels vetween 1786 and
1841 (Devon Record Office, 3319 S1-3; 3318 51-2: Public Record Office CUST 6%/68, 7
January 1788; Robin Craig's Reconstituted Barnstaple Ship Register)

Name of potter Ship registry | Vessel Name Tonnage Period of
no/year Ownership
Bideford
Thomas Anthony 171813 Regent 58 1813-1815
#8/1818 Thomas & Anne 36 1816-1820
Mary Carder 161786 Nancy 19 1736-1787
20/1786 Mary & Anne 24 - 1788-1795
4/1794 Blessing 23 1794-nk
41799 Alfred 134 17991810
William Carder 1/1808 Annabelle 66 1808-1810
1/1809 Three Sisters 47 1809-1818
17/1814 Witliam 34 1814-1815
7/1815 » Providence 25 1815-1819
4/1816 Dove 32 1816-1819
Bohn Jewell 16/17R6 Nancy 19 1786-1787
10/1786 w Mary & Anne 24 1786-1795
51788 Thonas 34 17688-1801
6/1790 Georpe 24 1790-1806
George Sprav 4/1786 Mary 28 1786-1792
L¥1786 Thomasine 20 1786-1787
27/1786 Hannah 45 1786-1802
4/1 788 Eagle 22 1788-1800
5/1788 Thomas 34 1788-18%1
3/1793 Betsey 27 17931802
2/1798 Hebe 122 17981810
2/1800 United Brothers 85 1800-1803
John Tallin 4/1 789 Sparrow 11 17891792
John Tucker 7/1832 Albion 53 1832-183%
John Tuckett 4/1786 Mery 25 1786-1792
28/1786 Actie 36 1786-1798
1/1788 Point 16 1788-1790
6/1791 John & Susanna 25 1791-1793
[Barnstaple
George Fishley 10/1787 Sparrow 11 1787-1789
William Fishley 10/1787 Sparrow 11 1787-17R9
John Lovering 61797 Venus 25 1797-NK

tered tonnage was caleulated at 33 tons. Bolh shipowning potters and the shippers of
earthenware preferred the usc of small sloops; one, the appropriately named Sparroty,
measurad only 11 tons. OF the sixty-two vessels which departed Bideford in 1806 with
cargoes of earthenware, the tonnage of of thirty-five fully-laden vessels ts known.®
Excluding the large 118 ton schooner Enterprize, it was found that the average ton-
nage was also 33 tons. A lurther sixteen partially-laden vessels averaged 55 tons.

In the seventeenth century the tonnage of north Devon vessels emploved in the
earthenware trade ranged from under 1& tons to over 30 tons, The reason given by
Grant for this preference was that vessels fitted the seale of the ports they used and
could sail inte narrow harbours and up shallow rivera.” The significance of the size is
also related to the actual volume of carthenware exported at any one time. Output
and hold space needed to match closely to ensure the profituble operation of vessels.
Thus, the average size of the earthenware carriers using the port of Bideford, and the
small sizc of vessels lsted in the table above, suggests that some north Devon potters
hought shares in shipping as a mcans of extending their trade, rather than simply as
a means to invest,

The evidence which directly links ownership of Bidetord and Barnstaple vessels by
potters to the carrying of carthenware goods is limited. Only one small vessel, the
George, partly owned by Jahn Jewell, was operating during the Bideford bench-mark
vear of 1806 used for this study. She was employed in the south Wales limestone
trade.# It is known, however, that two potters, the Fishleys of Instow, bought shares in
the Sparrow with the intention of engaging their Little eraft in distributing their
wares. She was first registered in the port of Barnstaple in February 1787, George
Fishley was innavative. He was the first Fremington potter to use coal, brought in
from the Forest of Dean, to fire his pots. He alsa began utilising manganese brown and
the addition of madelled or cast ornament in pipe-clay, or mixed red and white clay,
which gave 'this ingenious craftsman a seale of colour similar to Toft ware™.”

As a shipowner George was not so successful. Some time alter the registration of the
Sparroiw he was visited by John Bray, another shareholder from St Gennys in
Cornwall, and John Baker, a ship’s master. He was told that the vessel was to be taken
out of the earthenware trade nnd Baker was to replace the present master. Two other
owners had agreed to this arrangement and the vessel was employed in runving con-
trahand. Fishley did not know that Bray was a ‘smuggler of great notoricty ... having
been frequently detected in illicit practices’. Eventually, the Sparrow was veturned to
Fremington Pill where she was seized by excise men.

In an attempt (o return her to the legal and peaceful earthenware trade, Fishley
purchased her [or five guineas at an official auction. At the same time he bought out
all the other part-owners. Although the customs collector at Barnstaple was sympa-
thetie, the luw prevented the potter from operating the eraft. as she stood condemned
in the ‘ld certificate of registry’.* The Sparrow was now sold to the Bideford potter
Juhn Tallin. His partnership with the ship’s master, John Pearce, lusted until 1792
when the vessel was broken up. Other potters with shares in local vessels were as
unlueky as the Fishleys. Of pighteen vessels registered by them in Bideford before
1801, ene-third were lost by ship-wreck.

Thus, although the earthenware trade of nerth Devan was flourishing at the begin-
ning of the nineteenth century, the geographival distrihution of its wares had dimin-
ished since the seventeenth. The overseas trade, linked to the importation of such
items ag tabacen, was finished and the [rish trade much reduced. Only south Wales,
Devon, Cornwall and Bristol vemained as significant importers. Ruval communities in
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the three counties conilinued to make use of coarse earthenware and helped to keep a
‘rump’ of a pottery industry in existence, which, according to Grant, ‘had made no sig-
nificant concessions to progress’® The potters themselves maintained an intevest in
the shipping which was used to carry their wares and, in many cases, invested in ves-
sels with capacities commensurate with the seale of the trade, The vessels they owned
were considered a part of their business and not just as a seurce of a profit-making
investment.
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‘THE SERIOUS HISTORIAN OF THE VILLAGE”:
RURAL TRADITION AND CHANGE
AS RECORDED BY HENRY WILLIAMSON

AdLTE Jackson

“I'ales of a Devon village with its companion Life in a Devon village, is compiled from
materizl gathered together originally in two books between 19189 and 1929, and
called The village book and The labouring life. Both dealt wilth an obsevved and
aunthenticated period that has now passed away — the fiest hall of the interval
between Lthe lwo indusirial wars of Lhe bwentieth century’.' Thus wrote Henry
Williamson in the opening pages of Tales of @ Devon Village and Life in a Devon erd-
fage, which found publication in 1945, Cellectively, the books read as a montage
incorporating pari-fictitious charvacter studies and short stories with the passionate-
ly-expressed descriptions of landscape, nalure and elements that typily Williamson’s
well-known works, In addition, there 15 an elemenl of less prominence, but of equal
signilicance; for within these writings Willtamson often portrays local circumsiances
as symbaolic of the gaihering pace of change being experienced across rural Fngland
in the two decades folowing Lhe Firsl World War, As Willlamson states at one point,
he constdered himsell ‘Lthe serious hislovian of Lhe village'.”

Thus, the village as chronicled by Williamson mighl be read as a microcosm and as
an allegory of those extensive areas of rural Devon in Lhe early twentielh century
that were at once remote bul which were also 'opening up’ In the works Williamson
outlines a range ol ‘traditional’ characteristics including dialect, custom, attitude,
institutional alleiance and dependence, that combined Lo symbolise historical sens-
es of identity and attachment felt by the villagers lowards their local community and
their surroundings. Williamson indicales, then, what appeared to be the conse-
quences for those senses as traditional life was confrooted by the inexorable forces of
change.

The traclition .

The village in 1919, which Williamsoen chose to call Ham, had inherited senses of
attachment and identity that were effected by its intrinsic seif-sufficiency, The many
components af its community appearad to render the village highly self-contained;
church, chapel and school, with their respective councils; a shop and post office: a
blacksmithy; two public houses; a flourmill; and a policeman. Furthermeore, in the
felds and favms avound the village was to be found the primary souree of employ-
ment. This high level of service and agricultural work provision provided both the
socio-cconomie and the psychological aspects which gave the individual community
members theiv strong sense of place. In Williamson's account, three manifestalions
of this sense are most in evidence: attitude, dialect and custom.

in attitude, the villagers’ perspectives were genecally directed inwards; apart from
oeeasional veferences to smaller hamlets nearby, and the annual visit to the regional
fair, Williamson suggests that the villagers lhad limited socio-spatial horizons and lil-
tle apparent need to interact with the outside world. Their dependenl allachment Lo
and integral involvement within Lhe self-contained community in which they lived
and worked had long orientated their attenlion, gossip and folklore lowards that
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environmeni and not to the outside ‘it was in the times of which 1 write, still in the

denp country’! For the women:

chuareh an Sunday, the September Fair “in to town”, & parish meeting or Jumbhle

Sale ar Mother's Cuting, gave only occasional opportunities lor using their men-

tal tucudties. There was no social life in those days; no parish hall, no Women's

{nstitute. Strangers were still the obhjectives of curiosity and speenlation;”
far the men:

o the Hligher and Lower Honses [Lhe two innsl, T heavd many Lales of fuleons, foxes,

badgers, ravens and men, which 1 alterwards wrote as short stovies:”

- what thiy heard their fathers tell before them, were the subjects of politics, on the
questions of the fields and the village each man had o deep stove of knowledge,’
Overlapping with altitude was dizlect. Almost all the words Williamson highlighls

rilate o that rural landscape within which the villagers were integrated, and partie-

ularly to the wildife and the workiog vegime therein; far example: *tholm-seriteh’
tmissel thrush), ffitehey’ (stoat), lamb's longue’ (spurrey], ‘dreschel’ (flail), ‘dirmanity’
ttwilight) and ‘weest’ (dreary).” Moreover, diulect acted us a sub-conscious badge of

‘membership’ which members of the commuunity could relate to, and with which they

felt comfortable, although thev were conscious ulso that it separated themselves

from ‘outsiders”

dinlect words — Lthey hid them sometimes from strangers, helieving them to be

infevior, some of them prabably in use before the Novman Conguest, others as

old ... The exact and simple speech of their lorelnthers, unttl they undersiood T

was finding value in it, was deprecated.”

Emerging simultaneously frem the inztitutional and ceeupational bonds within
the community was custom. The church in itself was an important gocial fucus, but
rore vitally, dates in the ecelesinstical vear combined with those of the agricultural
vear to provide a loealised calendrical custom. Many of the village's official functions
such as church festivals, market days and holidays were determined by thiz custom.
and it was these that yielded the much appreciated opportunities for fetsure and
social interaction that were necessary to further the ethos of the self-containcd com-
nrunity, and attachment towards it

the important days i the village were those which were "a bit more lvely” than

usual wark-w-days: Baster Sunday, especially for the village maids, for them the

church wivs full of flowers, and the thought of the Bank Holiday on the morrow ...

Whit Sunday and Manday, for the same veasons, but not with the same fervour of

Spring, the August Fete, pronanneed Feet, in the glebe field, held nearly every

year in order to vaise maney for the new church work ... Then there was

Christmas Day — the day of great eating, swhose jollity and feelings of brotherhoaod

were enhanced by poing to chureh in the morning, since contrast was the salt of

life. But Barum September Fatr was the greatest event of the village yean™

The change

Through the Lwo books it transpives that the socio-cconomic basis for the self-suf-
ficient community that had cultivated its senses of identity and attachment was
under threat. In the foHowing three passages, Willinmsmm eftectively and poignantly
conveys many of the key leatures of a local soctety that was in a povied of transtor-
mation:

f found the village, where [ had settled, to be fall of petty jealousness and con-

tiets, the inevitable condition of a remote living where every other man was a
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siall owner of property, where the old squive had departed, and only a Tew wentl

to church on Bunday morning, or the chapel in the alternoon,?

~ during the decade llowing the Great War, 1 watched Lhe motor car, from being
a rare stght, become commonplace, even a nuisance in the village. The anvient
stagnation of the parish was stirred by the coming of the wive wheel in place of
the wooden wheel, The schoolboys, sons of labourers, became masons and
mechuanies earning thrice their father’s wages, They owned motor cveles, and
hought theiv own cottages ... young men of freedom and savings increasing in
the baulk, no longer touched their hats or added “zur” of immemorial custom,

— past eotlages, derclice of thateh and browed with ivy — the home of hundreds of
sparrows and starlings « when § had first come to lHve in Devon, but now sold
and restored and let furnished to produce in two days of the summer season
moere than their yearly rent before the war™

The whole sovio-economic base, therefore, was undergoing fundamental change. For

the older members of Hara, their world had been hievarchical, depundent, rigid and

agricultural. Tor the younger folk, it was becoming more democratic, irdependent,
mobile and materialistic,

Theve were various wide-ranging stimuli of change — mobilily, mass communien-
tions, totrism, house-building, local demoeracy and agricultural decline — from which
slemmed the focal features of life for rural socicty in the inter-war years. Improved
mobility and communications had opened up wider horizons for work, had inereased
interaction cutside Lhe community, and had brought tourists and incoming selllers
inlo the focalily. The new motor transportation required mechanies, whilst, in addi-
tion, the expansion of the tourism and the housing sectors required othey forms of ser-
vice personnel. As a consequence, higher wages and beodom lom the agricaltural
economy raised the expectalion amongst villagers of property ownership rather than
dependence upan® the ‘tied coltage. More house-building was brought about to fulfil
these expectations, driven also by a government subsidy for the improvement of the
housing stoek.!* Furthermore, with the buailding boom, plots of Jand were often more
profitable under construction than farmed, and the new small holders eager to specu-
late, and in concrete and asbesios vather than in the vernacatar traditions of an earli-
or age.” Perhaps as the ultimate symbol af the functional shift of the village, there
were plans to convert the still operable 'Charles II millhouse into a modern boarding
house.™ Alsa, in two lenglhy chapters dealing with disputes over access to a well and
the site ol o public comatery, Williamson explaing how the loeal power and decision-
making structure had becu transtorried. Flitherlo, this structure haid been localised,
dominated by an autocratic figare who was at once parson, sgquire and major landown-
er, and who was supported hy large farnwers, Subsequently, the ownership of land had
become more evenly distributed; power and vesponsibility had become designated
within an interrelating hierarchy of councils stretching from parish, to rural distriet.
to county, to central povernment; and at the base of the strueture local representation
had hecome more demoeratic, cgalitavian and contentious.”

The sense of place that was pnee an inevitability brought aboul by the economic
and social self-sullimency of the village was being confronted. Attention and aclivity
were beginning to relate relativiely mova to tactors deriviog from beyawd the localily
of the village. This was cxperienced first by the younger villagers as the most eco-
nomically and socinlly active group, and the most open to opportunity. For them, the
old altitudes of introvertedness, dependence and attachment to the lecal Borming
communily and landseape were being weakened. Traditional forms of custon and

13




dinleet were inereasingly nssovinted with the alder folk vather than with the commu-
nity as a whole — aspects that had been strongly tied up to an agricultural economy
which was now fess in commund, and o chacch that was similarly in decline ™

Willicnison's vivw

From the two beoks, some comparison can he made hetween the realities of change
betng experienced by the village — as noted by the author - and Williamson's atti-
tude towards the significance of change. In Lhis there 15 some contrast. With regard
to the village, in none of Williamson's characters ix there o fear of things new, ar a
consciousness of the accumulative detrimental effect that chunges nnght have upon
their commuaity, Indeed, the inhabitants zeem guite resigned and cven eantent to
take advanlage of the new epportunities, with a signilicant number looliing forward
to “the new eltages being built and the “opening up ol the place™ with the prospecl of
regubar worl" Turthermore, the villagers are portrayetd as being habitually used to
the pussing of old ways thatl had onee played notable parts in community structure
and identity Reminiscences are made, amongst other things, about the healing
power supplied by local “white’ witches, and the social policing by “rough music’
enforced by the villagers themselves.

With regard to change. Williamson's attitude appears more ambivalent. On the one
hand, he sympalhises with the progress in that il was freeing the villagers from the
poverty, dependence and deference of an varlier regiime.® On the other hand, Ham
had heen Willinmson's place of isolition, & retreat after his wartime experiences and
his dissatisfaction with a short period of work in London.* This solitude was now
being threatened. Furtheemere, b had difficulty in accepting the villager's eagerness
1o embrace the vpportunities of the modern age, and he recognised the threat thal his
posed to the community with its simple and essential havmony of human and physi-
cal landseape. e was perhaps most comfortable with the wildlife, the Jandscape and
the elements to which he devated many tracls within his two books:

rejecting the harsh-bright mentality of the human world, [ sought again in

wave, teee and bivd that land beyond the horizon; avoiding my fellow-men whase

lives seamed to be based only on selfinterest, on the little ego which did nat
even understand ikself

A biography of Williamson maintains that the contents of Todes of '« Devon vitlage
and Life in a Devon vitlage represent a far more aceurate record of actual people and
places than the asthor would admit to in the introductory notes to the Lwo publica-
tions. Alongside other writings by Williamson, these books undoubtedly consiitule a
valuable vegional literature resouree, and, hivthermeore, a collection of works thal
has yot Lo receive adeqguate accelaim. ™

Local historians investigating the rvealities of village life in Devon between the
wars might refer to detailed communily study ‘classies’ like Willuuns’s Asheworthy or
Marlin's The shearers and the shorn. ™ In Tedes of u Devon pillage and Life in o Devon
viflage Williameon suecceeds in echoing and adding colour to many of the features of
country life uneovered by such authoritative historicat and sociological works, In a
more allegovical manner, Williomson's writing conveys with similar power the dual-
ista hetween the held of tradition and the dynamism of change that characterised
Devim village 1l in the inter-war years,
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THE PARISH REGISTERS
OF WIDWORTHY AND OFFWELL 1555-1835

Edwin Haydon

The village of Wilmington lies astride the main read from Honiton te Axminster in
east Devon, Until recently the boundary between the two parishes of Widworthy and
Offwell ran up the centre of that road and together they coveved an area of some
3,500 acres, Their combined populations reached a peak in 1841 of 695 people, of
whom about one fifth lived in Wilmington village.

As Vicar-General of the Chureh of England, Thomas Cromwell issued a2 mandate in
1538 ordering every incumbent Lo keep a record of all baptisms, marriages and buri-
als which took place in his parish. Those records weve for the most part made on odd
seraps of paper. That haphazard system was rectified by a further order made in 1598
which ordered each parish to purchase more durable parchment registers and to copy
the earlier records into those registers. And so for nearly three centuries from the
mid-sixteenth to the mid-nineteenth the pavish registers are in practice the principal
source of knowledge of population trends in early modern England.

To study the demographic histm‘f/ of Wilmington it was, therefore, necessary to
analyse the repisters of both parishes. Both have good continuous runs of entries,
apparently somewhal of a rarity: those of Widworthy from 1544, and those of Offwell
from 1551, up to the present day. The cut-off point in both analyses was 1837 when
the civil system of registrations, combined with the detailed decennial Census
Enumerators’ Books from 1841, form belter hases for demographic studies.t

Certain problems are inherent in any study of parish demography® and this study
15 no exception. Both parishes have small populations and even turmped together
their total population falls well below the generally accepted optimum of a thousand
people for detailed pavish register analysis. Of the possible causes of defects in the
registration, these particular registers appear to pass most tests in that they cover
the whole period, are free from any missing pages and have only a few illegible
entries. Nor do the incumbents over the years give any sign of absence or of apathy,
indeed same seem to be zealous in their recording. The parishioners also do not
appear to have been indifferent or hostile to the religious celebration of vital events;
Widworthy was a squirearchy and the Compton Census of 1676 records no breath of
non-conformity in either parish.

Unfortunately this first irapression of the relative reliability of the two parishes’
registers is not cenfirmed by a closer examination. Both must have suffered as else-
where duving the two notoriously turbulent periods of our national history: the reigns
of Bdward VI and of Mary from 1547 to 1558 and the Civil War and Commeonwealth
from 1642 to 1660. Indeed the incumbent at Widworthy was defrocked on Mary's
accession to the throne as ‘uxoratus’.

Both Widworthy and Offwell parishes were created out of the large original parish
of the adjacent Colyton, which was first studied by Professor Wrigley and subse-
guently by him and other members of the Cambridge Group.' Peter Razzell compared
entries in the Census Enumerators’ Books of 1851 with the baptism registers of forty-
five sample parishes to establish the proportion of cases found in the census but not
in the registers.’ Colyton was among this sample and the percentage of cases in that
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parish not in the registers descended from 34.3% in the decade 1781-90 to 15.2% in
Lthe last period studied, from 1831-34. It is probable that a similar lovel of under-reg-
istration obtained for Widwaorthy and Offwell.

Methodology

The main method for investigating the demographic history of a parish from its
registered is aggregative analysis, It has been advocated for a long time with detailed
instructions by the Cambridge Group for the History of Population and Social
Structure.” The numbers of males and females baptised or buried each month were
recorded and totalled for each decade from 1555 to 1835 for both parishes. The num-
her of marriages each month over the same period were likewise totalled. Those
crude figures, without any adjusiment for under-registration, of baptisms, marriages
and burials for the two parishes combined have been plotted on a graph {Table 1) in
the form of nine-year moving averages which are more likely to reveal longer term
trends.”

Bapéisms and Buriols

Unfortunately this graph veveals three rather different trends. The baptisms sug-
gest that the population of the two parishes rose rapidly until the laler seventeenth
century, then levelled off until the later eighteenth century before rising again. The
burials imply that afler rising sharply to the later sevenieenth century, the popula-
tion fell in the early eighteenth century and then remained unchanged for the next
hundred years. From the marriages alone one would infer that the population stag-
nated throughout this period.

Almost certainly the main explanation for these discrepancies is the omission of'a
substantial proportion of these vital events from the pages of these parish registers,
FProfessor Wriglev.and Dr Schofield have long argued that there was a steady deteri-
oration in registration accuvacy during the eighteenth and nineteenth centuries and
used increasing ratios to account for this.’ But their assumptions have been ques-
tioned recently by Dv Razzell, who has argued that most burial registers suffered
much more from under-registration than did the baptism ones and that there was a
tendency for the quality of this registration to improve in the early nineteenth centu-
ry and not to deteriorate further’ The erude data for Widworthy and Offwell plotted
in Table 1 support Razzell's interpretation, but unfortunately one can only guess at
the extent of the omissions,

Child Moriality

The mortality of children may be assessed by linking the baptisms and burials of
those named in the registers and then grouping the children within certain periods.
For this exercise the writer made an alphabetical index of every person recorded in
the registers over the period and then picked out those who had been buried by the
ape of puberly, which was taken to be 14 years of age. Over the three centuries
spanned by this analysis the average rate of child mortality rose from 0.57% in Lhe
last quarter of the sixteenth century to 0.76% in the seventeenth century, and higher
still te 0.80% in the eighteenth century. There was a decline to 0.62% in the first third
of the nineteenth century, an improvement but still worse than the sixteenth century.
Burial registration may, however, have failed in the second half of the sixteenth cen-
tury, usually a time of heavy mortality.”
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Table 1. Widworthy and Offwell, Baptisms, Marriages and Burials (9 year moving
averages at 10 year intervals).
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Dates of Birth and Deaih

For six years in Lhe mid-seventeenth century, from 1854-3, the date of birth as well
as the date of baptism is recorded in the Oftwell register, Fram that record the aver-
age age al baptism was twenty-four days. Another spate of such diligence was inibiat-
ed on 15 September 1774, when Frances, the daughter of the Reverend Jolin
Bradford Copleston, rector of Offwell, and of his wife Margarat, was haptised, and
continued for a decennivm. The average age at baptism had by then, over a century
later, risen to forty-one days. Clearly parents had became rather lax at presenting
their children at the font — a habit which was in line with national experience. Buriad
normally fellows soon after death.™

Mean Age at First Marriege

The average age of men at marriage is difficult to caleutate beeause it is only in the
last century and a half that ane can trace hath the baptism of Lhe groom and the mar-
riage. However, excluding twa widowers or ald bachelars aged 356 and 42 years respec-
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tively, between 1885 and 1835 the averasge age of men on fivst marriage was 24.5
years. The ligures available for ealeulating the averaye age of brides on first marriape
are somewhat more plentiful: over the two centuries {roin 1637 to 1835, ifone
excludes ten widows or old maids aged 31 years or more, the average age of wamen
on marriage was 24.3 years, marginally greater than that of men. Those male and
female ages at first marriage are ecomparvable with naticual norms,

At Colyton women during the periad fram 1560 to 1647 had a mean age at first
marriage of 26.5 years to 27.5 yenrs, when it vose to 30 years and was actually three
years higher than the age of men. The average age of women on first marviage
remained at over 25 years until 1800.7
Familivs

The baptiam and marviage registers were stidied throughout the period and those
families of ai least three children of the same parents were listed. Where two childven
of one family were baptised on the same day the prosumption is likely that thay were
twins. When two children of the same sex in a tamily bear the same Cheistian name
the presumption is very strong that the first had died hefare the second was baptised.

The average family size appeared to grow in the secand half of the eighteenth cen-
tury from 3-4 childeon ta 4-5 children. That abservation i= guarded, bearing in mind
the rules for presuming that a family is complete: firstly from the date of mavriage
until one of the couple had died or the wife had reached the aygre of 48 vears; alterna-
tively from the date of baptism of the first child te the end of the wife's proeveative
period. Those rules presuppose that the couple were married in the parish and stayed
there. At Colyton women marrying before 30 vears of age had 6.4 children before the
mid-seventeenth century, between 4.2 and 4.4 during the next hundred years or so,
and 5.9 after that until 1837.'* The average interval between the births of children in
the same family steadily decreased from 39 months in the sixteenth century to 38
months in the seventeenth century, then down to 34 months in the eighteenth centu-
vy, and finally 32 months in the nineteenth century. Those averages support the pre-
sumed effect of breast-feeding as a means of birth control: the descending scale might
indicate an increasing use of ‘'sop” or ‘gruel’ for infants in place of breasi-feeding.

Prenuptual Pregnancy

The practice of ensuring that the bride-to-be was fertile before embarking on matrimo-
ny was still very much alive among the agricultural community in east Deven cnly thirty
years or so ago. Over the period from the mid-sixteenth century to 1837 nearly 16% of
marriages were followed by, the baptism of a child within a period of one to eight months,
Indeed at Widworthy there were two cases in 1593 and again in 1597 wherve marriage of
the parents followed Lhe baptism of their child flegitimatio per subsequens matrimoni-
um/. That percentage is supported by historieal evidence elsewhere sinee it can be shown
thal nationally 15% of brides were pregnant. In nearby Colyton, however, the percentage
of prenuptial pregnancies was always much higher: during the peried from 1538 to 1799
the rale was 46.2%." In view of theae prenuptial pregnancies it is reasonable to assume
thal many more women were sexually experionced before marviage.

Hlegitimacy

The Cambridge Group rvecently revised its rules so that one not only counts as ille-
gittmate those labelled in the baptismal registers as ‘base-born’ but also those where
only the mother’s name is recorded. During the perviod of a hundred years from L[580
to 1897 the percentage of illegitimate children appears to be 4.7% of the total bap-
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tisms for the two parishes. In the next hundred years that percentage foll to 3.8% and
in the period from 1780 to 1837 to 2.6%. The falling percentage may be due to morat
disapproval and so omission rather than to any improvement in morality vr greater
accuracy on the part of the incumbents and their elerks. In Colyton the percentage of
bastacds was much higher: in the period from 1691 to 1740 the figure was 6.4%:, {rom
1741 to 1790 the figure was 7.8% but fram 1811 to 1840 the figurce fell to 3,26,

Life periods

I considering the lifespan of men and women from the mid-sixteenth to the early
nineteenth centuries one must first define the age limits of an adult man and woman.
Those limits were fixed between 15 and 69 vears: the first because it fillowed the ear-
lier upper limited fixed for children, that is at puberty; and the latter was adopted
from the hiblical ‘three score years and ten’. Men and women in the seventeenth and
later centuries did live beyond that age but by any standard their apge was exceplion-
al and consideration of them is reserved to later in this study. There i= a further lim-
itation in that this type of analysis can only proceed when both the baptismal and
burial dates of each person are ascertainable. One notices a vertain varianee in the
regislers when an age is claimed for a person buried and one’s own caleulation from
that person's baptism to burial. For obvious reasons the latter caleulation is pre-
ferred. On those bases every person, who died between the ages of 15 and 69 years
was recorded, the date of birth being estimated to the nearest year from baptism.

In the late sixteenth and throughout the seventeenth centuries the average life
span of men, who dicd between the ages of 15 and 59, was 37.7 years and thal of
women 30.7 years. During the cighteonth century the average male life span was
35.7 years and that of the fomale 3R8.6 vears. During the first third of the nineteenth
century the average man lived for 43.1 years and the average woman for 42.3 years.
It is remarkable that only in the cighteenth century did the women outlive the men.
Secondly theve is a distinet hiccup in the average of the male life span for that very
century: one would on a progression expect o dife spun of 40 years whereas there wasg
instead a worsening trend.

Professor Wrigley has considered the expectation of life at Colyton and found that
the mid-point during the periad fram 1538 ta 1624 was 43.2 years , during the period
from 1625 to 16899 was 36.9 yeurs and hetween 1700 and 1174 was 41.8 years.”™
Longevity

As indicated above, men and women wha reached the age of 70 years or more are
now considered separately ex honoris causa and because their exceptional longevity
would upset the calculation of the life span of the average mortal. At Widworthy in
the sacond half of the seventeenth century seven men averaged 75.6 years at age of
death. No women were recorded in that century as septuagenarians. During the eigh-
teenth century on the other hand ten men averaged 80.4 years but nine women out-
lived them with an average of 87 years. Thal was indeed remarkabie, Finally in the
first third of the nineteenth century twenty-two men averaged 81.2 years and nine-
teen women averaged 80.5 years.

Conclusion

Although these two parishes, even combined, hardly form an adequate basis for
such an exercise, il is hoped that this study may encourage others to analyse the reg-
isters of larger parishes with a view to a better comparison.
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MEN OF THURLESTONE
WHO DIED IN WORLD WAR 11

Neville Oswald

The names of twelve Thurlestone men who gave their lives for their country in World
War Il are listed on a wooden tablet in the parish church, In ovder to give substance to
this elegant yet rather impersonal munument, an attempt has been made to assemble
some detailz of the twelve men from their families and friends, with a view to providing
a lasting vecord of an important tacet of Lthe parish’s heritage,

There remain a few villagers and other who, after a lapse of rather more than fifty
years, can still recall some of the men who died and may even have retained treasured
old letters, newspaper cuttings and photegraphs. Between them they were able to give
fairly complete aceounts of the men and their families, but details of their militavy ov
other service were someiimes bazy, except when a cose relation had died. Adcditional
information was ohtamed from the parish registers, which include the village of
Thurlestone and the hamlets of Buckland and Bantham. The following details wern
obtained from these two sources.

John AUGER. Son of an East Allington man and Catherine, a Thurlestone girl. Alter
his parents separated, he lived with his mother in Thurlestone. He joined the Devon
Regiment and was killed in Ttaly during a beachhead landing @?Anzio) in June 1944,
Aged 24, he was unmarried.

Peter CAMPBELL. From an old Bantham family. He worked [or o truding company in
Sumatra. When the Japanese captured Singapore, he joined the ioeal Dyutch Home
Cruard. During the invaston of Sumatra, he was killed by the Japanese.

Cecil EDGCOMBE. Buckland. Baptised 1904 — a brother of Edgar. One of three broth-

ers whase family lived in a thatched cottage at Bantham. Engaged to Mary Snowden of

Buckland. He was already in the Royal Navy when war broke out. He was killed in the
Far East when his ship HMS Dragonfly was sunk by enemy action.

Edgar EDGCOMBE. Buckiand. Baptised 1889, He joined the regular Army hefore the
vuthreal of war, He was killed in action, leaving his wife Anne and daughter Iris.

Peter INGRAM. Buckland. A stranger to Thurlestone, he married Doris Hannaford, a
local girt. They had a small farm at Buckland. He joined the Army but was discharged
on grounds of healith and died soon afterwards, Hia widow Qoris and daughter Hazel
now livee at Aveton Gifford.

jeorge LUSCOMBE. Bucklaud. Horn at Goveton in 1900, As a young man he served

with the Royal Navy for 12 years. [n 1939 he joined the Army (RASC), became an
ambulance driver and took part in the relief of Belsen conventration camp in Germany.
Soon after he became 11l with tubereulosis and died in 1445, He was buried at
Thurlestone.

Johnn MITCHELMORE. Thurlestone. Bapiised 1907. He was a Territovial in the Devon
Regiment. Whilst training at Falmouth before going to India, he was accidently killed
by an army lorry in 1843, He was buried at Thurlestone. He left a widow, Audrey, and
three sons one of whom, Charles, is now a parigh eouncillor.
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Harold PRETTYJORIN. Thurlestone. Baptised 1907, He joined the Royal Navy as a
young lad and travelled the world. Barly in the war he wus appeinted Chicf Stoleer on
HMS Glarious, in which he was drowned when it was sunk by enemy nction. Aged 34,
ke was unmarried.

Michzel YEO. Lived in the Old Rectory, Thurlestone. His father had o family business
in Plymoulh. He joined the RNVR in 1940 and was killed in action in the Straits of
Messina, [laly in 1943, He was unmarried.

Charles BLUNDELL, Son of a wealthy brewer in Kingsbridge, he lived in the family
hame on Yarmer, Thurlestone, Marvied Joan at Thurlestone in 1943, He joined Lhe
RNVR, becoming a gunnery officer. He was killed in action in one of HIM Capital Ships.

Patrick COBA, Thurleastone. A very frequent holiday visitor to his relations, Lhe
Matthews, whe Hved at Seacombe on Yarmer, now divided into three. He joined Lhe
RNVR in 1839 and served in Motor Gun Beats, based at Dover. In July 1942, in. com-
mand of 3 M(GBs, he attacked a strong German force and died when his beat was sunk
by enemy action. He wis awarded the DS, His widow Elizabeth lives in Kent.

Lawrence DAVIS. Worked on o farm al Baniham, at @ time when geveral youths from
an orphanage came to work in the fields. Nolhing is known of his career in the Forces.

Perhaps the most striking leature of these records is the diversity of experience of
this small group of men, Byually divided between the Army and the Royal Navy, they
fought in home waters, in Germuny, the Meditervancan and the Far East, and covered
the Seven Seas. Some eight of them came frorm local vural stack, which for generations
had enjoyed reasonable prosperity, based principally on farming, Three others were
newcomers whose families were attracted partly by the goll club, swhich was opened in
1897, and oceupied or built for themselves substantial houses nearby, The last was
probhably one of a small group of young men who came from an orphanage to work in
the fields. No service details are known and, unless further information comes to light,
the date and manner of his passing are unlikely to be fortheoming from official records,

The parish registers have been invaluable in tracing family connections, especially
births and marriages. Determining the dates of deaths has presented unsurmountable
difficuliies, especially for those who died overseas. All twelve are recorded in the burial
register but no less than eight of them were simply entered as 1942; since some of them
were known (o have died-in other years, little reliance can be placed on the date given.

Conversalions with eldecly villagers and others have vielded a remarkably complete
aceount of events so tnany years ago. Some of them were old enough to have known
those wha died and their families as individuals but, perhaps, were neot then particular-
Iy interested in noting which of the services they had jeined. Several of them remem-
hered the laudable enthusiasm with which many young men rushed to join the colours
when war threatenied in 1939, Some of them had ravely if ever stepped beyond the
county’s bpundaries; for them and for all those who followed it was an exciting experi-
ence. Yet a glanee at the homes to which some of them were destined never to return,
especinlly in Buckland, brings to mind the tragic losses their families sustained.
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STOCKDALE'S DRAWINGS
OF EARLY NINETEENTH-CENTURY DEVON

Todd Gray

Among the art colleetions at the Royal Cornwall Mugeum in Trurs are six velumes of
drawings attributed to FW.1.. Stockdale. These comprise pencil sketches, with some
watereolours, of places in Cornwall and Devon done in the first half of the nineteenth
century. Stockdale considered producing an iHlustraied History of Devon! for which these
drawings were intended. The drawings are of particular interest to those interested in
buildingts and gardens. Muny have not been identified. This provisional list is offered to
researchers in Devon who may want particulars of these drawings or who can offer help
with identifying unknown drawings. The drawings are in a temporary arrangement and
it is hoped that these will be reordered in the near future. The two drawings which have
bheen reproduced ave representative of the collection. Copyright remains with the
Muaseum. The Art Curator can provide further details.

Volume one, al are of Devon excopt one

1. watercolour ‘near Ashburton July™l 4’ small cottage with fields

2. pencil. unknown thatched, three-storey building with mullion windows
3. pencil andl watercolony, 'Whitchurch Devon’

4, pencil, sketeh of unknown house

5, pencil, unidentified chapel or church

6. two pencil sketches: “vicarage Littleham near Bideford Devon’ and unidentified
two-storied residential building and church tower peeping out over cak waood with
field in foreground and sweep of ornamental tree-lined drive

7. two pencil sketches: ‘new pond, Saltram Devon' and 'Parlkham, Devon’
8. pencil, ‘Bridwell, Devon’
9. pencil with watercolour, ‘Saltram ..., small thatehed cottage/gate house on right

foreground and looking through two stone gates there ix a run of water with a
marsh and Saltram rising out of a wooded landscape

10. pencil sketeh of 8t Michael's Mount

1. pencil, ‘the lodge, Bishop Teignton’

12, pencil, ‘Rydon, Kingsteigmton’

13, partiai pencil sketches, ‘Oakelands, Okehampton’ & *house in Torquay’

14. pencil, ‘Churchstanton ..., small vesidential building with surrounding trees

15. pencil with watercolour on both sides, ‘Milton Abbett’, pasture and catlle in fore-
ground, pond to the right and vising out of a2 wood a large building, moorland
sharply rising behind

16, pencil, ‘Chaltoncourt Tiverton, Devon’

17. peneil, ‘Coffinswell Barton’

18. pencil, with some brown wash, ‘Dawlish’, large two-storied butlding on right, with
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atmospheric railway with frain ranning across centre, beach in foreground and Lwo
figures with bathing machine and peneil, ‘Hatherleigh, Devon’, church

19, pencil, ‘Btokeinteignhead, Devon’, village scene and pencil, with brawn wash,
‘Maunt Batten, Plymouth Sound’, view of coast with small sailboat in centre

20, pencil with some wash, “The ... Torquay Devon Sept]?18 57, large, two-storied coun-
Lry house, with towers on two ends and possible wing to back, stone, with Lrees
prominently drawn

21. pencil, ‘Babbacombe near Torquay Devon, August 6 42, beach scene with smalt
hoats and huilding on shore and an architectural feature at lop of eliff

22, pencil, some shading, ‘Coryton Flouse near Axminster’

23, pencil, ‘Sidbury, Devor, church in centre with buildings roughly drawn to lelt and
right

Volume two, many unidentified and very rough sketclies, probably a mixture of Devon
and Cornwall, including, pencil, *On the Dart Devon’, river scene with three cottages on
right-hand side of river and some nets and small craft and pencil, ‘5t Nicholas Island ...’

Volume three:

1. peneil, house with slate roof ... roses over the ... Dawlish’, light lime tree’, on right,
‘rhododendron | .., to left of centre

two-storied house, with veranda, in centre of rising slape, heavily landscaped with
ornamental trees

2. pencil, ... Ashprington from Totnes', two-atoried house with cireular drive in front,
arched colummed feature from house on left-side of picture

3. pencil, ‘Teignimouth’, two-storied building with veranda io front and first floor win-
dows with rounded tops, series of cuvious roof pinnacles

4. pencil, ‘Fuge from Dartmouth’

5. pencil, ‘the Temple ... Mount Edgecornbe’, rough detail shewing coastline and lem-
ple near centre

pencil, ‘near Torquay’, building vising out of wood

6. pencil with some brown wash, unidentified targe stone L-shaped building
pencil, ‘Okefield, Creditorn’, Italianate building, some detail of gardens
pencil, with some wash, ‘Blayden barton’

9. pencil, 'Oxenham's from Okehampton’

10, pencil, ‘'view at Plympton, Devon Nov. 2 1828

11. pencil, 'Nethertan, nr Honiton', L-shaped building with prominent two-storied
Dutch gabled entry porch, limited detail on garden and pencil, ‘Old tower Slapton
near Dartmouth’

132, pencil, unknown street scene

13. pencil with some wash, ‘... near Modbury Devon October 18 1844°, ... anton to
Modbury', large [?ifarmhouse

14. pencil, with some colour, "South Molton’, country lane with two cottages and pencil,
‘Mrs Morshead, White ... slate’, 'Widey from Plymouth’, large two storied-country
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WEST HILL,
A HILL THAT BECAMY A PARISH

Winifred Greenaway

Lord Coleridge wrote! in 1905 “Ollery 51 Mary, home of the Coleridge family, lies on
the left bank of the river Otter in a broad and pastoral valley, bounded on either side
by the Fast and the West Hill, The stie is ooe favoured hy nature’ The West Hill has
given ils name Lo a village, hidden in woodlands stretching from Long Copse up to
the tevel greensand summit at 500 1 and West Hill has been a pavish in ils own
right, separate from Qltery St Mary, since 1863,

Ity kistory unfolds with the road as it cimbs gently past the rained farm cottages

where tramps rested between Exeter and Honiton and where local people left them
food. Over a small stream is Foxenhole Mill built in IBLA by the Eveleigh fammly, one
of the few names listed tor this area in the Manor Book of Ottery 8t Mavy. Behind the
mill, recently converted into homes, is the gravel pit listed ag a quawrey after the
County Council become vesposible fm Devon raads. Now worked with Rockbeure on
the farther side of the Hill, it supplies quarlvite pebbles orashed and used lor rond-
building because of their good polishing qualities and resistance 1o wear® Nearby is
Leather Mill which supplied the necds of the community a century ago, and a house
“I'he Breaches’ tsie) used as the first schoel.

The advance road sign tor West HR ol Lhis point is level with a Devon bank con-
cealing a deep diteh al the bottom of the thickly wooded slupe to Belbury Castle. The
read to Broad Oak marches itz outer defences. A papoer given to the Exeter
Archaeological Sociely in L1461 states:’

This station which sccupied the crown of a hill Lla miles or g0 from Ottery St
Mary (but ¢.150" below the summit of West Hilly was vbhiterated 70 years age.
Samuel White of Castle Farm told us when he was o boy, the hill was entively
open heath; that he and his father were emploved in levelling the entrenchments
of the Camp; that they raized the earth in the interior with what they got out of
the encircling banks; that there was a great diteh all round outside and that the
present road at the south and east sides necupies the bottom of the fovmer diteh;
that he does nal recollect any coinsg or relics having been found; that the fletd now
standing in its place is called Castle field. This b 230 paces long by 80 wide.

The field and farm are still se called and a few houses relain the name of the ford,
as in Belbury View. Belhury was eonsidered to ‘devive from Bel or Belus, the Great
Pagan Deity of old.' No excavation has taken place.” It now belongs to the family of
Str Charles Cave of Sidbury Munor,

Fram this level the woodlunds continue upwards, coneealing n community of

almast 2000 in 758 or so homes, moest built recently, Until the chureh of 5t Michael
the Avchangel was built in 1848 hall'a mile up the hill, ‘the area was a wide heath
beloniing to Str John Kennaway of Escot, Tst Baronet of Llyderbad. He let a groat
portion in plots to the induslrious peasantry on long leases at a low rent and by this
means it was brought rapidly into a state of cultivation’” Prior to this only Several
Houses and Parcels of Ground” were known and in 1858 'an Herb Garden.”

In the Lambeth Paluee Library is a letter from Sir LU Colevidge, Judge of the
Queen’s Bench and nephew of the poet, written on circuit between Hertford and
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Chelmsford in July 1845, [ts five blue hurvied pages urge the Secretary for the
Incorporated Church Building Saciety to allow a church on West LY An active and
thriving dissenter of great influence has erected a sort of barn in the districl for
which we wish to build — and he preaches and teaches there stoully - he has akso a
targe tract of ground in it to bring into cultivation — and the labour of the farms,
Chapel and Schaool all co-operate together. Oue Viear (of Ollery St Mary) has atlotted
the diatvict to a zealous young man, who has pot 2 very nice school - but you may con-
ceive at what adeds we are, if we have no chureh to tuke pavents or childven to” Plans
for a church were passed four weeks later. The foundation stone was laid by Sir John

oteridie in Octuber 1845 and the Church of 5L Michael the Arvchangel consecrated in
September of the follawing vear in the presence of over two dozen churel dignitaries
and fifty gentry. A new ovcder of things had begun.

Although one of the "Six Hundred New Churches” built in this peviod to meet the
changes following the Napnleonic Wars and moves of population, 5t Michael's was
uble Lo exeeed the guidelines Iaid down hy the Church Building Society, Certainiy the
site was not ‘near nuisances such as steam engines or offensive manufactories’ and
Lhe influence of the Kennaway and Coleridge fumilies ensured wide suppovt. The
avchiteel was John Buchanan Wollaston, student of Pugin and nephew of Sir J.T.
Coleridge. He gave the eredence table and other members of the family the altar, tont,
pulpil, the 154 communion plale, the windows, Miss Alethea Coleridge supplied the
bible, ils binding a fourteenth century copy. John Keeble sent a contrribution. Was
Thackerary, his step-father, a tenant of Sir John Kennaway, Lhinking ot it when be
wrote in Pendennis — ‘At Tinkleton Church gate, ag Lthe bell was lolling in the sun-
shine, the white smocks and seavlet cloaks came trooping Lo Sunday warahip™? Ie
could not have guaessed how prophetic was his continued narrative of conversation:
“You'll let the house, of course. Gond schoal in the neighbourhood: cheap country;
devlish wice placé for East India Colonels, or families wanting to retive. £IF speak
about it at the club; there ave lots of fellow want a home of that sort.™’

By 1901 the pepulation had risen te 317, 'Electrician’ and 'signaiman’ had
appeared in the parish registers. The vicarage, now [East and West Granps, had bheen
buill ten years after the church. With the coming of the raflway, the price of property
in Sidmouth had risen and Wesl Hill was ‘discovercd’. Generous houses such as
Bendarroch (now a private schaol), The Warren, Wurlie tnow Elsdon), Moorlands,
Metcombe and Houndbenre Fause were built. Fine trees s planted ther survive and
punctuate the landseape o the Ml but their gardens are now full of smnller homes
in streets and closes bearing the names of those homes which didn't survive the
changes cause by Lhe two world wars, The coming of piped water made pussible the
surge of developmenl since then

Tha tirst post office was opened at the end of Toadpit Lane and kept by the wife of
Harry Potter whose descendants created Potter's Country Market on the site of the
oviginal smithy, and who have done so much Lo influenees the evalution of Wesl Hill
The British Legion Ctub and the new school flourish — but there is still ne pub.

Many agree with the poem the blacksmith wrote:

Have vou ever been ko Weal Hill in the spring-clad month of May

And viewed its charms from 'Pricldy Pear’ in eavly sunlighl's roy?

[t residential dignity, and its hues of glorious green

“T'will make you say of Devonshire - It's the best place Pve seen.

tFram Poems by Harry Poller, Blacksmith, Postmaster and Sexton, 1847)
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REVIEWS

tReaders are advised that opinions expressed by reviewcrs arve their own and net nec-
essavily those of the Editor or of the Devon History Society as a whole}

Lapford: the 2000 year story of a mid-Devon village, by Noel Parry. Lapford: The
Author, 1995, 88p, illustrations, maps. Obtainable from the author, Larkiise,
Easington Road, Lapford, Crediton EX17 6QE, £3.00.

It is not often that an author can write himself into his own historical work, but this is
what Mr Parry has been able to do. e has done it unestentatiously as one of the for-
mer headmasters of the village school whose history forms part of the village story. The
author claims that ‘this is not a deeply rescarched, scholarly work, rallier a druwing
together of readily available information, and it is intended principally for local people’,
Any profits will go to local organisations. He more than fulfills his modest claim and,
although the maps are hand-drawn and some of the iHustrations rather pallid, there is
much interesting detail in the 89 pages of the text. A mark of the schoolmaster seeking
to produce empathy in history lessons is provided by his attemptis ta conjure up scenes
from Lhe remote past while at the other end of the timescale many inhabitants of
Lapford will see familiar faces in some of the illustrations,

Pespite the two millenia promised by the title, about half of the book covers the last
two centuries and it is here that it is in many ways most valuable, preserving many
persenal memories of the village. Each community has its own special characteristics
and Lapford provides us inter alia with a wicked viear, Parson Jack Radford, and a
large local factory which for many years was the major employer in the village, the
Ambrogia factory which clesed in 1974, Mr Parry chronicles all this, with other sec-
tions on nonconformity, roads and cailways, the 1939-45 war and many other topics. In
some cases the detail extracted from sources such as school loghaecks might have bheen
better presented in a tabular form, in the saine way as he has provided lists of head
teachers, conpregational ministers and rectors, bul perhaps this would have made it a
less approachable buok for the general readership that he is writing for.

A quibble which.uther compilers of village histories should note: theve are two blank
leaves at the end of the baok. These could usefully have been filled by a listing of the
maest important of the many sources which the author has clearly consulted in prepar-
ing this history and an indication of where they can be geen. Anather point for thuse
writing for the future. Don’t forget to explain the present as well as the past. What will
people in the future make of the caption ‘Red Nose Day at School, 1889°. Will they
assume it to be an age-old local custem en a par with the Ottery Tar Barrel celebration?

fan Maoxted

Discovering Exeter 7/Lost Churches, by David Francis, Exeter Civic Society, 1995,
BOpp, illastrated, £3.00. ISBN 0 95058735 5 4.

Farlier volumes in this series have tuken thelr readers on a historical tour around
individual Exvter pavishes or defined nreas like Pennsylvania, {n this one the journey
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iy within or close to the city wals but the seavch is for the sites of buildings ol which
scldom any fragments vemain, Wiacly, the avthor has included visits to existing
churehes, some eilther co-eval with those destroyed or sheltering monuments lrom
them.

The destruction of city ehurches in modern times has fallen into four phases: the
mid-nineteenth century and later street improvements’, the limited oeclesiastienl clo-
aure policy between the wars, the 'blitz’ and finally the post-1945 clearances and
redundancics, In general the preservation of Bxeter’s churches has awed more to their
congregations than to Lhe civice or ecelesiastical authorities. A writer in the
Transactirms of the Excter Diocesan Architectuval Society in 1899 argued strongly
that surplus chwrches could be put Lo other uses, ‘We hold them in trust only, and have
no right to destroy themt'. A few vears later Althatlows. Goldsmith Sireet, beeame
another vietim in cireinsatanees, as the author velates, particularly sad loe the rector
and his congregation. Many of these churches had dwindling numbers of pavishionevs
as people moved ont intn the suburbs but there was a ol of enthusiasm Lo keep themn
going. St Lawrenee’s where my fathier was rectors warden tor many years and where ]
was baptised was one which in this way survived the agsavils of the thirties to he
destroved in the blitz. [t was a pity that its tower at least, if not the High Street iront,
could not have been preserved and incorporated in some new if non-refigious building
us wus done in many German cities. Bxcfer High Street had always been an attractive
jumhle ot styles.

Anather childhood recollection is of 5t Panl’s All vound it had been a shum arvea from
which my Bicher had recruited boys for vne of the fivst Seout tvoops in Exeter. Many ol
them had died in the war and he liked to go to theiv church on the Sunday nearest
Armistice Day, My memary is of a galleried building, clagsical in styvle and very neal.
It was pulled down with the unsanitary homes which it had served. My impressious of
the sther churches which have disappeared since 1941 ave less marked.

In ohserving that a substantial part of the information which he has used came
from the writings of Beatrix Cresswell and Franees Bose-Troup the author wonders if
these two ladies were collnborators ar rivals, This question may assume thal they
were the only players in this paorticnbor field which they weve uot. For example, a thivd
lady writer on Exetor and Devon churches was Ethel Lega-Weekes wha indeed con-
tributed to the work by Mrs Rose-Trupp cited in the bibliography. Then there were the
wmen, many mare af them, not atl of whom were diltident advaeates of their own views!
Nu doubt Miss Cresswell and Mrs Rose-Troup disagreed from time to time bat such
evidence ay is now avatlable does not suggest enmity or rivalry between them,

This gruide muintsins the high standard of its predecessers, fts elear map and care-
fully planned rautes should help the explorer to make the most use of his tima with

the jeust use of his legs,
Addricen Reed

Barbary Pirates off the Devon Coast, by Sadru Bhanji, 1896, 70pp, 10 illustra-
tions, Ovchard Publications. Chudleigh, €194 [SBIN | 898064 22 X

This book covers a wider field than its tithe suggests as it includes a general history of
the rise and decline of the north Afvican covsair states. themselves nominally pavt of
the Ottoman Empire. Their significance for Devon begad to be felt with the end of Lhe
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Spantsh War in 1604 when many former English privateersmen turned to the clusely
allied trade of piracy. Dutch, Flemiogs and French joined in. Some including
Devonians, worked oul of the poris of the north Afriean pirate states. Others, either
valuntarily or after capture, became nontinal converts to [slam. It was the technical
skills of these renegades’ that enabled the “Turks’ to build and to oporate the ocean
guiny ships that now appeared outside thi: Mediterranean and caunsed =0 much dam-
age to shipping off the Westcountry ond [rish consts, Tt is with the exploits of these
vaiders that Lhis book is largely eoncerned.

The Barbary corsaivs diffeved from their competitors in pivacy e that they were as
nuich interested in the people on board the ships they took as in the goods the vessels
carried. Men, women and children could be held to ransom or suld as slaves in the
logal markets, priced according to their skitls or other attractions. Tiis led to the
selzne of Westcountry flaliing boats and other small erafl of littli: material value as
well gs to occasional raids ashore, such as that al Mount’s Bay in 1656, It from the
time of Lhe Commmwealth snwards effective naval forces kept the Devon and Coruisle
coasts victually pivate froe its citizens were still being captured in the Meditevranean
and the appronches to the Straits but in steadily decreasing numbers, Their fate was
remembered in the supplication in the Litany for divine *pity upon all priseners and
captives’. The practical measures for their redemption and the petitions to vavious
swthorities for help for individual Devonans are well covered by the author. Payment
of ransam money could be made by an intermediary, perhaps a merchant, through the
British Consuls or, on oceagion, by the commionder of a naval foree. By the end of the
seventeentih cenlury British, Dutch and French sca powey, considerations of legitimate
trade, and aulright bribery more or less removed the threat {o cilizens of those coun-
tries, The regrettable survival of the corsair states, though with veduced naval
stremgth, throughout the fbllowing contury, was due largely to the political, strategic
and cormmercial interests of the Sea Powers.

The main account of life as a captive by a Devonian 1s that of Joseph Pitts who expe-
rienced both ils hardships and consalations. His narrative shows thal slaves weve
treated as being of value, either as labour or as earners of ransom money. Unless as
punishment for serious offences it was not in Lthe owner’s interest to damage his own
property, although beatings were not intrequent. It is parbaps a pity, then, that most
of the illustrations in this book are rather \urid sketches based on the illustrations
showing the various punishments of slaves in Father Dan's cantemporary Histoire de
Barbarie. They should not be allowed to distract attention from the text which
admirably summarises a worrying and not always creditable chapler in Devon's histo-
vy [ would plead. though, that if an expanded edition follows space should be found for
the esvape story of William Adams and his friends, admitted Lo Prince’s Worthies
atthough ol 'mean and obscure parentage’ because ol the greatness of their exploit.

Advian Reed

The Forgotten Battle, by John Wardman, Fire and Steel Lid, Torvington, 1896, xv +
203 pp. £15.00, obtainable post Iree fram Lhe Mole and Haggis Bookshop, Toerrington,
EX38 SHIN. ISBN 0 95267266 0 X

The hindsight of 350 years lughlighls the battle fought at Torvington on 16 February
164G a8 the effective beginning of the end of the first Civil War in the South West, if
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not across the whaole countyy, After a desullory campaign during the bitter winter of
1645-46 the New Model Army under General Thomas Fairfax, with Cromwell,
Lambert and Ireton among his officers, an their way o becoming the Grandees of the
late 1640s, tock on Ralph Lord Hopton and his Cornish levies, newly arrived in the
rayalist-inclined market town (10 February), Sharp and flerce, the two-hour engage-
ment culminated when the royalist magazine, cavalierly lodged in the church, blew
up. Almost certainly a deliberate act of desperation, the explosion found 200 or more
vietims, Fairfax himself only narrowly escaped death from a Hying lump of lead. John
Wardman’s detailed commemorative account blames him for tardiness in seeking to
take over and to neutralise the magazine. That seems a little harsh. But certainly the
explosion was a shock which canged confusion enough to allow a sizeable number of
royalists tn get away, nat all of them in blind panic. Generally Mr Wardman's judge-
ments arve balanced and aceeptable, based as they are on Sealed Knot enactment expe-
rience and copious documentation. The Parliamentarians saw theh hard-won viclory
as ‘an admirable merey’ and in the succeeding months set about exploiting it. One by
one the king’s garrisons acvoss Deven and Cornwadl gave up the struggle. Charles
down, but not yet feeling out, seon slipped away from his Oxford HQ to infliet himself
upon the Scots army at Newcastle. determined fram there to continue his unchanging
policies, now by other means than war, The upshol was 30 January 1649 at Whitehall.
The Forgotten Batde, conpled with the re-enactitent i August 1996, when the weath-
vr may well be worse than it was in Febroary L848, will ensure for the fubure the inac-
curacy of its own title. Well informed and organised and enhanced by a wealth of lus-
Lrations by Philip Dixon, another Sealed Koolter, it is an excellent example of local
publishing initiatives, deserving of a wider circulation.

fean Rools

From Destruction to Deliverance, by Mark Stoyle. ‘Exeter Studies in History'.
University of Exeter Press, 19068, «v + 232 pp., £11.95 papervback. ISBN 0 85986 478 9,

Oddly enough the significance of the result at Torrington is not mentioned in From
Destruction ty Deliverance, which contemplatos men and movements in Exeter from
the 1620s to the surrender of the royalist. garrisen theve in April 1646. The book,
which includes a selection of documents aptly chosen to reinforce the thrust of the
toxt, while stressing some peculiar, even unigue foatures ot ‘the centre, heart and head
of the West', is also offered as a sort of ense-study ol an uvban centre during what
become — some might think, inexorably - o time of erisis. Presenting Exetev in its
physical, administrative, economie, social and religious manifestations, Dr Stayle
finds it by ao means ‘a united community’. Rather he sees a complex — embracing
inter afia traders and clerics — in which any ‘ideclogical eonsensus” theve might ever
have been among its leading citizens wus breaking up throughout the 16205 and 30s.
The influence of men, ‘puritans’, like [gnatins Jurdain — thought /v was egregisus
even among them, almost sui geaeris — zealous to further God's glory through teaching
and preaching rather than cathedeal vites and formal prayer, brought strains across
the city, intensified by the existence of so many small parishes within the boundaries.
Responding to the drift towards war during 1842 a majority of the lay elite worked to
put Exeter at the disposal of Parliament, brushing uside royalist sentiment, of which
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there was certainly some. On the event, the suceess throughout the South West of the
king’s forces brought the city, ‘prowd’ aud ‘rebellious’ as it was in face of twu sieges,
intn ‘the power of his sacred Majesty’ in September 1643,

During the royalist occupation parliamentary inclinations were necessarily muted.
Drawing on archacological as well as reeord material, Dr Stoyle offers a vivid portray-
al of what happencd between 1643 and 1846. The third siege - hy the New Model -
increased the hardship and disruption of way, adding to it much physical destruetion,
War-weariness and disillusion onty began to be lifted when the stubborn garrison
marched out, on honourable terms, drums beating, valours flying, mateh alight in
theiy hands, still ready to fight, but really on their way to nowhere, Within a few days
Exeter shops were upening up, Life, as it must, went on. All this is a atory well worth
the telling and told well with advantages by a historian who has prasped the possibil-
ities that come [vom putting a local alengside a regional and a national dimension,
Though preswmably. like Mr Wardman's book The Forgotien Buatile, in soine measure
prompted by the contineing spate of 350th anniverasaries, From Destruction to
Deliverance will surely have a long shelf lifa.

fvan Bots

Coppers' Devom: two centuries of crime and strange events from the comical
to bizarre by Grahame Holloway. Peninsula Press, 1995, 144p, iHustrations.
£5.99. [SBN 1 872640 36 2

The task of veviewing this lttle volume is of special interest to me because Graham
Holloway, in his acknowledgement, thanks ‘the late Walter Hutchings' whase history
of the Devon Constabwltary valled Gut of the Blue provided much of the histerieal back-
ground for him. As o yvoung libravian I met Walter Hutchings when he had just been
given the task by the Chief Constahle of writing a centenary history of the Force. The
Devon Constabulary was cveated under the County Constabulary Act in 1856 and its
first Chief Constable appointed soon alfterwavds, It was my first experience of helping
with serious research and.his lirst adveature into writing, [ still remember those fivst
tentative steps we tonk together,

This light and very readable story of the police would have heen piven greater pur-
pose if the wore recent erimes had been given fuller caverage. It is now over forty
vears since Superintendent Hutchings” work was published and this is, as far as [am
aware, the only history of the police in Devon. Grabam Halloway in his Introduction
suys that his book is ‘neither a tourist guide nor history book’, however, the value of
Coppers” Deeon would have been enhanced i he had noted his bibliographical sources
and included even a brief index.

The author has used his service in the Police, his account starting in east Devon
where ‘on leaving school in 1949, [ jotned Devon Constabulary as a Police Cadet’. He
subsequently served in Lthe four corners af the county and his stories come from un
equally wide area, from the piliaging Gubbing of Lydford to the Genette Tate mystery
of Aylesheare,

John Pike
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Dartmoor Granite, Colour Video, Written and noarvrated by Helen Flarris., 19986,
£11.00p Available from & Spinlk, 10 Cardinal Avenue, 3L Budeaux, Plymouth PLG
1UW.

The 19905 hus seen the advent of a number of video films about matters Devanian,
available through bookstores and shops. Whilst many of these videos are best viewaod
as holiday souvenivs, athers, such as Dartmonr Granite, sot out to give an informed
picture of a pacticular historical topic, eapitalising on the advantages BIm can have
over the printed word,

Dartmoor means granite and it is fitling that Helen Harris, the author of The
Industricd Avchaealogy of Dartrmoor, has chosen this rock for her Orst foray into the
viden format. Working with the production team of Peter Roberts of the Plymouth
Minerad and Mining Cluly and local film maker Graeme Spink, she sets out to chart
the 280 millisy stovy of the Dartmoor rock in just 37 minutes. The video opens with a
clear explanation of Lthe geologital processes by which granite was formed before trac-
ing its use through move than forly centuries rom prehistarie stone rows and hut civ-
cles to medieval longhouses and then on to Lhe Viclorian London Bridge and the 1980s
memorial to the Falktands Conflict.

As well ag grand buildings such as Nebson's Column, Ptymouth Breakwater and
County Hall in Exeter, Dartmoor granile also found its way into the streets and pave-
ments of Tavistock and many another tovwn ax kerbstones snd setts. The identification
of the individual gquarvies — such as Haytor, Fogginler, Staple Tor and Pew Tor - from
which the different types of granite came is one of the many details highlighted by the
video,

But perhaps Dartmonr Granife really comes inlo its own with archive film of a train
stopping at [ngra Tor Halt, a quarrying community on the Princetown line, and the
modern footage of men at work in Merrivale Quarry, which still operutes today. The
video allowa us to watch over the shoulder of Peter Holland as he uses 03! his skill to
spht o massive granite block by the tradilional feather and tare method {how often
have we read about this techuique? Here we can actually waich il happen). And Helen
Harrvis" interview with Gerald Metters, a Merrivale stonemason who worked on the
Falklands Memarial (twice in fact — the ship carrying the first memorial o the Islands
sank s0 a secomd version now marks the site), shows the value of oral history even tor
the recent past. When My Metters fivst came Lo Merrvivale Quarry i employed [fty
stonemuasens; nowadayy’, he veflects, 'you can't really afford to employ o stonemason
anymore.

Perhups for those who know Dartmoor, its granite tors can become almost loo famil-
iar. This video helps us to refocus owr gaze not just on the tors but alse on the cen-
turies of toil and eraftsmanship that have made up the granite industry. Dartmoor
Granife is a brave venture by its creators and deserves to sell well not just in Devon
but even as far afield as Arizona, where the old London Bridge has been re-evecled to
show the splendowr and endurance of Dartmoor granite to the New World — thanks to
saome slight redesign by the master craltsmoen of Merrivale, as Gerald Metters
cxplains in this video

Simon Timms
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The Great Storin at Widecombe, 21 October 1638, Transcript of original 183%
pamphlet, preparcd and publishod by Mike Brown, Dartwmoor Press, 24 Lipson Court.
Greenbank Road, Plymouth PL4 TG, L6pp + card cover AS, Price £1.50 + 25p P&P.

This interesting booklet yecalled the vislent electrical stovm which struck the village
of Widecombe-in-the-Moor in 1638, in which the parish church of St Paneras bore the
brunt, with one of the tower pinnacles crashing through the nave roof, killing people
in the congregation wud ciusing mueh damage, Very shortly afterwards a svaall pam-
phlel desceribing the event was printedd, and it is this second issue that is here vepro-
duced. Text of the originnl hos been given verbatim, and oviginal spelling snd gram-
mar retained, Many tegends have arisen in the years since the acewrreney, and mod-
ern accounts written, but this is undoubtedly the moest autheulic version.

This is the latest in a series of research studies made avaitable by Mike Brown, who
spends many hours in record oflices. Dealing mainly with parishes in the south and
south-west areas of Dartmeor they include transeripts of churchiwarden's accounts,
manar court rolls, registers and other documents, A list of titles available, all of which
are rensonably priced and of potential uselulness to Jocal historians, is available on
applieation ta the address given.

Helon Hurris

Yelverton & District Local History Society Newsletter No, 13 (1998). 32pp A5
& card cover. £1 to membors, U150 to non-members. Obtainable, +30p for p&p, from
Paul Rendel, 20 Rolston Close, Southway, Plymouth PLG 6PE.

Yelverton LHS is to be congratulated on its attractively produced Newsletter, well
printed, and containing useful information, veviews, and interesting articles relating
to the soclety’s constituent parishes.

Compiler of the Newsletter is now Lhe society's chairman/secretary and honorary
editor, Paul Rendell, who also contributes a pivee on Merrivale Quarry's history. (It
would be interesting to know where the ranite setts made at the quarry around 1876
were used, as he states, in the floor of Tavistock Market, which was built in 1862 using
floor pavestones from Pew Tov). If advice may be offered it is that Mr Bendell might
set the tome for his publication by presenting a less sketchy lisl of his sources, which
would raise the Newsletter's standing. Further articles of absorbing interost include
ones on Crrenafen Manor by Peter Laxton; the Creber family by Flisabeth C. Edwards:
Abraham Ciles of Walkhampton - well documented by Mike Brown: and on the lang-
house Higher Dictisham, Walkhampton, tllustrated by attractive drawings, by Jenny
Sanlers,

Helen Hearris








